FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/5/2021 3:40 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 80467-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE, SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT,

Respondent,

v.

SEATTLE POLICE OFFICERS' GUILD,

Petitioner,

and

ARBITRATOR JANE WILKINSON and ADLEY SHEPHERD,

Additional Parties.

REVISED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Hillary McClure, WSBA #31852 Vick, Julius, McClure, P.S. 5506 Sixth Avenue S., Suite 201A Seattle, WA 98108 (206) 957-0926 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Seattle Police Guild ("Guild") seeks review by this Court of the published Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its published opinion on April 5, 2021. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-46.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In a common law judicial review of a decision of a labor arbitration panel established pursuant to the parties' collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"), are the courts bound by the factual determinations of that panel?
- 2. In a common law judicial review of a labor arbitration panel's decision, where a court applies the so-called public policy exception to the finality ordinarily accorded arbitral decisions, what standards appropriately govern the application of that exception?
- 3. If a court vacates an arbitral award under public policy exception, is the court free to impose its own sanction or must it remand the case to the arbitration panel to revisit the sanction decision?

D. INTRODUCTION

Division I's published opinion merits review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). In a larger sense, Division I's decision undercuts the core principles of common law arbitration in the employer-employee setting long established by this Court – great deference to the decisions of the arbitral panel with *extremely* limited judicial review. Division I's opinion

upends that clear policy by permitting broad judicial "review" in the guise of applying a *narrow* public policy exception to the principle of finality of arbitral decisions. Division I condoned a trial judge's disregard of the arbitral panel's findings of fact, and allowed that court to substitute its judgment of the appropriate sanction for a police officer's misconduct under the parties' CBA for that of the arbitrators, selected by the parties pursuant to the CBA, who heard lengthy testimony, adjudged the credibility of the witnesses, and applied the requisite principles of the CBA. Review by this Court is merited to uphold principles governing labor arbitrations.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As noted in Division I's opinion at 3-13, according to the decision of the Disciplinary Review Board ("DRB"), the arbitral panel here, Seattle Police Department ("SPD") Officer Adley Shepherd punched Miyekko Durden-Bosley, a handcuffed, intoxicated female prisoner in the face during an arrest, two seconds after she kicked him in the face with her Doc Martin-booted foot. Officer Shepherd's injury from the kick was sufficient to require treatment at Harborview Medical Center for an acute temporomandibular disorder. CP 20. After the City of Seattle's ("City") Police Chief determined that Shepherd allegedly violated SPD's policy on

¹ There are no racial overtones to the altercation. Officer Shepherd is African-American.

use of force and that Shepherd should be discharged, CP 15,² the Guild appealed that decision to the DRB established in the parties' CBA. *Id*.

The DRB panel consisted of an SPD Assistant Chief and a patrol officer, appointed by the City and the Guild respectively, and an experienced, professional labor arbitrator. CP 11. The DRB held a five-day hearing, during which 16 witnesses testified, and in which 107 exhibits were admitted into evidence. CP 12-15. The panel's written decision sustained in part and denied in part the Guild's grievance. CP 45.

While the DRB sustained a violation of the SPD policy that restricted the use of force on handcuffed suspects, CP 35, it found that this policy violation was a "close question." CP 36. The closeness of this question, and the panel's finding that Officer Shepherd possessed a "sincere" belief that using a single strike under the circumstances complied with his training, mitigated against his termination, according to the DRB. CP 37, 39. The DRB also found that the City specifically trained Officer Shepherd "to respond with measured force when a subject has used force against him." CP 38. Even if his use of force against a handcuffed suspect violated the letter of the City's recently-amended use-of-force policy, the DRB found that the City's failure to properly train its officers mitigated

² The Washington State Patrol and the FBI, an internal force review team, and the SPD Office of Professional Accountability all conducted use-of-force investigations. CP 21. "[T]he relevant authorities effectively absolved Officer Shepherd of criminal wrongdoing when they declined to press charges." CP 26.

against Shepherd's outright termination. CP 31-32, 37-38.

The panel found that other mitigating facts existed, including that Officer Shepherd had initially attempted to use de-escalation tactics with Durden-Bosley; that she had just kicked him in the face; and that he applied only one strike, stopping when she quit resisting. CP 37. Further mitigating factors including his length of employment with the City and his positive record on the job. CP 41. Ultimately, the DRB found that "discharge was too severe a penalty, considering the circumstances of force and other mitigating considerations." CP 45. It "was not proportional to the offense" CP 36.

The DRB did not slap Officer Shepherd on the wrist. It imposed a 15-day unpaid suspension, removal from patrol (at the option of the City), and removal of training duties on the use of force (at the option of the City). CP 44-45. According to the panel this "lengthy suspension" would solidify for Officer Shepherd that he "always has to think about and utilize options that involve the least level of force necessary." CP 41.³

³ A 15-day suspension is a high level of discipline, CP 43 n.16, and suspensions cannot exceed 30 days under the City's municipal code. SMC § 4.08.100. Further, the lengthy suspension would limit Officer Shepherd's career advancement through promotion and assignment to specialty positions; and any subsequent discipline for similar misconduct would take it into account and could result in termination.

A 15-day unpaid suspension also carries heavy financial implications for the affected officer. The suspension is equal to three weeks without pay and is therefore comparable to the 20-day suspension in this Court approved in *Int'l Union of Operating Engineers, Local 286 v. Port of Seattle,* 176 Wn.2d 712, 716, 295 P.3d 736 (2013)

The City petitioned the King County Superior Court for a writ of certiorari, CP 1-6, granted by the Honorable John McHale. CP 404-05. Rather than accept the DRB's factual findings, the trial court conducted its own examination of the facts based primarily on its *repeated* viewing of the video of the incident. The court concluded, for example, that Officer Shepherd acted in a "retaliatory" fashion *when the DRB made no such finding*. CP 1083. To the contrary, the DRB concluded that Officer Shepherd had a "sincere" belief that his use of force complied with training under the circumstances to stop the threat and control Durden-Bosley. CP 39. The panel also found that Officer Shepherd, and others within the SPD, honestly, and even reasonably, believed his actions complied with the City's use-of-force policy under the circumstances. CP 40-41.

_

^{(&}quot;Operating Engineers"). The Court there acknowledged that a 20-day suspension for hanging a noose at work was "a substantial penalty" "given that so many working families live month to month" and the suspension amounted to a "month without pay." *Id.* The same is true here. The impact of a three-week suspension is significant to any working family, including police officers. Not only will it cause the employee to feel the effect of the misconduct, but it will likely mean that the employee's family will not be able to meet its financial obligations for the month.

And the 15-day suspension is only the beginning of the penalty Officer Shepherd faced from the award. The discipline also included his removal from patrol and removal of defensive tactics training duties, at the option of the City. These non-financial aspects of the penalty should not be minimized. Patrol and other proactive and community units are where Officer Shepherd spent most of his career. Therefore, even with reinstatement under the arbitration award, he would not be returning to the job he loves. His new position will not include many of the characteristics that provide purpose and meaning to officers. He also will no longer have his training responsibilities, which provided leadership opportunity. Without question, the penalty is substantial and will limit his career. The DRB found that these several disciplinary measures were proportional to the seriousness of the offense and sufficient to "send [the] message" that excessive force is not tolerated. CP 42-43.

Moreover, the trial court simply ignored evidence that supported the DRB's decision that no "retaliation" occurred. Durden-Bosley's assault was significant. Witnesses testified that Officer Shepherd was dazed after being kicked, in a lot of pain, unable to focus, and had swelling. CP 539. Expert video analysis showed that Durden-Bosley, who was intoxicated, came towards Officer Shepherd after she kicked him and that she was raising her leg again, as his arm entered the car for the strike. CP 539. This showed she was still combative after kicking him in the face and was possibly positioning herself for another attack or escape. A letter from the King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office opined that Officer Shepherd acted in a calm and professional manner from his arrival at the scene to the time he was kicked. CP 539. It concluded that "some force was necessary to control and arrest Durden-Bosley [as she had just] actively resisted ... arrest and assaulted the officer" and they could not prove that the single strike was unreasonable under the circumstances. *Id*.

Numerous individuals testified that Shepherd's use of force was within SPD policy and reasonable under the circumstances, including Officer Shepherd's direct supervisor, who was also a defensive tactics instructor; a lieutenant, who was in Officer Shepherd's chain of command and sat on the SPD's force review board for a number of years reviewing all moderate and serious uses of force; the on-duty sergeant when the

incident occurred; and the SPD's lead defensive tactics instructor. CP 539.

Division I's published opinion affirmed the trial court's decision that the DRB sanction was "too lenient" and that Shepherd's termination was merited. It declined to remand the case to the DRB for further proceedings on an appropriate sanction.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) <u>Division I Allowed the Trial Court to Substitute Its Factual</u>
<u>Determinations for Those of the Arbitral Panel</u>

Washington's common law on arbitration in the employer-employee setting affords *substantial* deference to decisions by arbitrators, as will be noted *infra*. Critically, a court on judicial review is *bound* by the arbitrator's findings of fact. *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 724.

Division I condoned the trial court's decision to depart from the DRB's factual findings based on witness testimony and exhibits admitted into evidence. Instead, the trial court substituted its own findings made for those of the DRB that heard testimony over 5 days. This violated clear-cut precedent of this Court. Review is merited for that reason alone. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- (2) <u>Division I Misapplied the Public Policy Exception to the</u> <u>Principle of Deference to Arbitrators' Decisions</u>
 - (a) <u>Washington Law Accords Substantial Deference to</u>
 Arbitrator Decisions

Washington's common law governs the process and enforcement of

arbitration awards in employer-employee situations. An arbitral award is generally subject to extremely limited review.⁴ *In Clark County Pub. Util Dist. No. 1 v. Int'l Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 125*, 150 Wn.2d 237, 252-53, 76 P.3d 248 (2003) ("*Clark County PUD*"), this Court stated:

When reviewing an arbitration proceeding, an appellate court does not reach the merits of the case. The common law arbitration standard, applicable when judicial review is sought outside of any statutory scheme or any provision in the parties' agreement, requires this extremely limited review. *See DSHS* at 784-84, 812 P.2d 500, (common law arbitration doctrine persists, despite the enactments of arbitration statutes, to "fill interstices that legislative enactments do not cover"). The doctrine of common law arbitration states that the arbitrator is the final judge of both the facts and the law, and "no review will lie for a mistake in either." DSHS, 61 Wn. App. at 785, 812 P.2d 500 (quoting *Carey v. Herrick*, 146 Wash. 283, 292, 263 P. 190 (1928)).

When reviewing an arbitration proceeding in a labor dispute, courts do not reach the merits of the case. *Id.* at 245. The arbitrator is the final judge of both the facts and the law, and "no review will lie for a mistake in either."

⁴ Although inapplicable to employer-employee arbitration, RCW 7.04A.030(4), Washington's Arbitration Act, RCW 7.04A, similarly limits judicial review of arbitral decisions. RCW 7.04A.230. *See* Appendix. *Cummings v. Budget Tank Removal & Envt'l Servs., LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388, 260 P.3d 220 (2011). Under that statute, this Court has "repeatedly articulated a rule that explicitly includes facial errors of law as grounds for vacation." *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 237, 236 P.3d 182(2010) (*quoting Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 118, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998)); *Boyd v. Davis*, 127 Wn.2d 256, 263, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995). Facial errors are limited to errors recognizable from the language of the award. *Cummings*, 163 Wn. App. at 389 (noting example of an award that erroneously included punitive damages although Washington law forecloses awards of such damages).

Carey v. Herrick, 146 Wash. 283, 292, 263 P. 190 (1928).

Federal law, upon which this Court has drawn in employer-employee common law arbitration cases, similarly supports such narrow judicial review. For example, the United States Supreme Court in *United Steelworkers of Am. v. Enter. Wheel & Car Corp.*, 363 U.S. 593, 597, 80 S. Ct. 1358, 4 L. Ed. 2d 1424 (1960) stated:

[A]n arbitrator is confined to interpretation and application of the collective bargaining agreement; he does not sit to dispense his own brand of industrial justice. He may of course look for guidance from many sources, yet his award is legitimate only so long as it drafts its essence from the collective bargaining agreement.

If the arbitrator is arguably construing or applying the contract and acting within the scope of his or her authority, the fact that a court believes serious error was committed does not suffice to overturn the decision. *E. Associated Coal Corp. v. United Mine Workers of Am. Dist. 17*, 531 U.S. 57, 62, 69, 121 S. Ct. 462, 148 L. Ed. 2d 354 (2000).

Plainly, the central feature of Washington's policy on arbitration awards is to confer substantial deference to arbitrator's decisions. Division I's published opinion effectively disregards this key principle long established by this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(b) Public Policy in Washington Favors the Finality of Arbitration Decisions

As discussed below, Division I abused the narrow public policy

exemption to judicial deference to revisit the arbitration panel's factual findings. But it bears discussing at the outset that judicial deference to arbitration decisions furthers important public policy goals.

This Court has recognized a strong public policy favoring arbitration for decades. *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett*, 146 Wn.2d 29, 51, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002) (citing *Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wash.2d 112, 118, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998), *Boyd v. Davis*, 127 Wn.2d 256, 262, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995)). Encouraging such alternative dispute resolution is an "increasingly important objective in our ever more litigious society. This objective would be frustrated if a trial court were permitted to conduct a trial de novo when it reviews an arbitration award." *Boyd*, 127 Wn.2d at 262. Thus, Washington courts frequently stress that "public policy favors finality of arbitration awards." *E.g., Jensen v. Misner*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 835, 841, 407 P.3d 1183 (2017).

Limited judicial review in this case supports other important public policy goals, like freedom to contract/collectively bargain and labor peace because the parties *bargained for* arbitration. "When parties voluntarily submit to binding arbitration, they generally believe that they are trading their right to appeal an arbitration award for a relatively speedy and inexpensive resolution to their dispute." *Clark County PUD*, 150 Wn.2d 253. Judicial review condoning judicial normative decision making for

employers and employees outside the parameters of the CBA defeats these vital public policies as well.

Review is warranted so this Court can evaluate these important issues of public interest and resolve the conflicts outlined above. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(c) The Public Policy Exception to Deference Is Narrow

While arbitral awards in the employer-employee setting are the subjects of judicial deference, this Court has established a *narrow* exception to the usual deference to arbitrators' decisions where unambiguous Washington public policy is violated. However, it has also made clear that because this exception is *narrow*, courts should be extremely hesitant to override arbitral awards in the guise of free-wheeling "public policy" concerns. Indeed, this Court has established that principle in two key cases. In Kitsap County Deputy Sheriffs' Guild v. Kitsap County, 167 Wn.2d 428, 219 P.3d 675 (2009), this Court first recognized that "public policy" created a basis for a court to override an arbitral award. The Court emphasized that the exception is *narrow*, id. at 436, and applies only if the public policy is explicit, well-defined, and dominant, and not simply a generalized consideration of supposed public interests. Id. at 435. In fact, the Court reversed the trial court's application of the public policy exception in a case where a deputy was terminated for allegedly lying repeatedly to his superiors arising out of his fixation on child pornography cases. This Court noted that while statutes prohibit lying to a public officer and the officer's conduct has *Brady* implications, the arbitrator's decision to reinstate the officer did not violate the requisite unambiguous public policy standard.

In *Operating Engineers*, this Court again unanimously *reversed* a trial court decision to overturn an arbitral decision to reinstate an employee terminated for racially harassing conduct on the job. This Court noted that the policy against racially-charged misconduct on the job is clear, but it could not "find that the arbitrator's decision to reduce [the employee's] discipline...to a 20-day suspension was so lenient as to violate the public policy against workplace harassment," under the facts of the case:

When we take into account the specific circumstances of this case, we cannot say that a 20-day unpaid suspension would not provide sufficient discipline to cause this or other employees to understand the serious nature of a noose in the workplace and thus prevent a similar incident in the future.

176 Wn.2d at 742.

Division I's decision affirming the trial court's application of the public policy exception similarly overstepped the bounds of that exception, as this Court determined in the cases above.⁵ As in *Operating Engineers*,

⁵ There is at least a serious question as to whether SPD's policy regarding excessive force against a suspect is explicit, well-defined, and dominant. Brief of Appellant at 33-35; reply br. at 3-15. Division I concluded to the contrary. Op. at 16-30. As the Court knows, a police officer's job necessarily requires the use of some force, and public policy favors shielding police officers in close call situations where they exercise

the trial court's usurpation of the arbitrator's decision to conclude that the sanction the arbitrator selected was "too lenient" under the circumstances, was error. The trial court and Division I seemingly gleaned from 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 34 U.S.C. § 12601 that the DRB sanction was "too lenient." But the only place where this putative standard for a sanction has been discussed was in *Operating Engineers*, an RCW 49.60 case. *Nothing* informs such an analysis by the trial court other than its "general impression." No guideposts cabin such an amorphous standard.

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