FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2021 3:54 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99728-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE, SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT,

Respondent,

v.

SEATTLE POLICE OFFICERS' GUILD,

Petitioner.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

SARAH TILSTRA, WSBA #35706 Assistant City Attorney Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104-7095 (206) 684-8200

Attorney for Respondent City of Seattle

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

IV. ARGUMENT

"[L]ike any contract, an arbitration decision arising out of a

collective bargaining agreement can be vacated if it violates public policy." *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 721. The decision is treated like part of the contract, and it will be vacated if it violates an explicit, well-defined, and dominant public policy. *Id*. The reviewing courts properly determined that the award here violated the explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy against the use of excessive force in policing.

A. Neither Reviewing Court Substituted Its Factual Determinations for Those of the Arbitrator.

SPOG contends that review is warranted because Division I permitted the superior court to substitute its factual findings for those of the arbitrator. When determining whether an award violates public policy, courts "do not review an arbitrator's factual determinations." *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 716, n.1. However, neither reviewing court substituted its factual findings for those of the arbitrator. Both recognized that they were not permitted to do so, and in fact <u>relied</u> on the arbitrator's factual findings.³ *See, e.g.*, CP 1077 (trial court required to accept findings of fact as to violation of SPD policy and impact of discipline on Officer Shepherd); Op. at 3 (courts do not review arbitrator factual determinations).

SPOG's purported examples of impermissible trial court fact-

³ SPOG also claims that the superior court "conducted its own examination of the facts based primarily on its <u>repeated</u> viewing of the video of the incident." PFR at 5 (emphasis in original). SPOG cites no authority limiting the number of times a reviewing court can view evidence in the record.

finding fall short. SPOG claims that, although the arbitrator did <u>not</u> conclude that Officer Shepherd acted in a "retaliatory" fashion, the superior court <u>did</u> make such a finding. PFR at 5. This assertion misstates the record. The superior court relied on the arbitrator's finding that the punch may have been a reflexive response to pain (CP 37), to conclude that reinstatement served to "condone retaliatory action" (CP 1083); there was no finding that Officer Shepherd engaged in retaliation. Similarly, the arbitrator's finding that Officer Shepherd (and others) genuinely believed Officer Shepherd was following SPD policy when he punched Ms. Durden-Bosley was <u>not</u> overturned by the reviewing courts; in fact, both tribunals explicitly cited this finding as part of the basis for their determination of a violation of public policy. *See* CP 1081-82; Op. at 35-36.

SPOG's claims that the superior court ignored certain evidence (PFR at 6) are similarly unsupported. SPOG points to the finding that Ms. Durden-Bosley's kick was significant, but this finding is consistent with the arbitrator's conclusion (relied on by the reviewing courts) that Officer Shepherd, 'feeling stinging pain' 'perhaps, reflexively, used force.''' CP 1082 (citing CP 37). And, although SPOG cites witness testimony that Officer Shepherd's punch was within SPD policy, that is not what the arbitrator found. Instead, the arbitrator found that Officer Shepherd violated SPD policy. The reviewing courts accepted that factual finding.

SPOG does not (and cannot) point to a single arbitral factual finding that was rejected or added by the reviewing tribunals. Review by this Court is therefore unwarranted.

B. The Reviewing Courts Properly Determined That the Award Reinstating Officer Shepherd Was So Lenient That It Violated Public Policy.

SPOG asserts that the superior court and Division I did not exercise appropriate deference to the arbitrator when they determined that the award violated public policy. To the contrary: the reviewing courts applied existing authority, including this Court's holdings, to the specific facts of this case, and properly determined that reinstatement of Officer Shepherd violated the public policy against the use of excessive force in policing.

1. Arbitral awards can be vacated if they violate public policy.

SPOG spends several pages arguing that judicial review of arbitral awards is narrow, and that there exists a public policy in favor of arbitration.⁴ PFR at 7-11. These are not remarkable propositions, and the City does not dispute that judicial review of arbitral awards is generally limited. *See, e.g., Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 720 ("Courts will review an arbitration decision only in certain limited circumstances..."). But this Court's cases <u>also</u> establish that because an arbitration decision arises out

⁴ Notably, most of the cases cited by SPOG for these propositions do not involve claims that the award violated an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy.

of a contract, it can be vacated if it violates public policy. *Id.* at 721; *Kitsap County Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap County*, 167 Wn.2d 428, 435, 219 P.3d 675 (2009) (citing *E. Associated Coal Corp. v. United Mine Workers of Am., Dist. 17*, 531 U.S. 57, 67, 121 S. Ct. 462, 148 L. Ed. 2d 354 (2000)). Because the superior court and Division I both correctly concluded that the arbitral award was contrary to public policy, the authorities cited by SPOG have limited applicability to this matter.

2. Division I's ruling is consistent with this Court's prior authority.

SPOG claims that the rulings of the superior court and Division I controvert this Court's decisions in *Kitsap County* and *Operating Eng'rs*. But an analysis of these cases shows that the reasoning used here is consistent with the principles set forth in this Court's previous holdings.

In *Kitsap County*, a sheriff's deputy was reinstated by an arbitrator after being fired for misconduct that included untruthfulness. 167 Wn.2d at 431. The arbitrator found that the county should have recognized his mental disability and referred him for treatment. *Id.* at 432-33. The Court of Appeals held that reinstatement violated public policy, but this Court reversed, finding that neither the *Brady* rule⁵ nor statutes criminalizing lying to law enforcement supplied an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public

⁵ *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) (prosecutors must disclose evidence favorable to the accused).

policy against reinstating an untruthful officer. Id. at 436-39.

This Court took up the issue again several years later in *Operating* Eng'rs. In that case, a Port of Seattle employee was fired after he hung a noose in the workplace. 176 Wn.2d at 715. The arbitrator reinstated him, finding that he "was more clueless than racist." Id. at 719. After both the superior court and the Court of Appeals determined that his reinstatement violated public policy, this Court accepted review. Id. at 720. Unlike in Kitsap County, this Court found that there was an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy against workplace discrimination and harassment, and that this policy set forth an affirmative duty on the part of employers to sufficiently discipline harassers. Id. at 721-23. The Court then considered whether the arbitration award violated the public policy at issue, noting that "when an arbitrator's punishment is so lenient that it will not deter future discrimination-including discrimination committed by others-it must be vacated." Id. at 723. Due to several mitigating factors, however, this Court could not say that the 20-day suspension the arbitrator imposed "would not provide sufficient discipline to cause this or other employees to understand the serious nature of a noose in the workplace and thus prevent a similar incident in the future." Id. at 723-24.

SPOG's argument appears to be that the outcome of the reviewing courts' analysis here cannot be squared with the results of *Kitsap County*

12

and *Operating Eng'rs*. This argument, however, misapprehends the reasoning set forth in those cases.

First, the analysis of the superior court and Division I as to whether there is an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy against the use of excessive force in policing follows this Court's precedent. *Kitsap County* held that the statutes at issue did not provide an explicit, dominant, and welldefined public policy because they simply were not strong enough: they did not prohibit people who violated them from serving as officers, nor did they place any duty upon the employer with respect to prevention of the conduct. 167 Wn.2d at 436-38. *Operating Eng'rs* further refined the analysis and found that the laws against workplace harassment and discrimination <u>did</u> set forth an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy. 176 Wn.2d at 721-23. Although those laws did not (and could not) set standards regarding the specific amount of discipline required to remedy misconduct, they did create an affirmative duty for employers to prevent harassment by imposing sufficient discipline to deter future misconduct. *Id.* at 722-23.

Applying the analysis developed in these cases, both the superior court and Division I concluded that the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983,⁶ 34 U.S.C. § 12601, and the Consent

⁶ Notably, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 was one of the bases for the explicit, dominant, and welldefined public policy against sexual harassment by law enforcement officers found by the

Decree entered into between the City and DOJ established an explicit, dominant, and well-defined public policy against the use of excessive force in policing. CP 1078-81, Op. at 16-30. SPOG does not contest this conclusion, noting only in a footnote that there "is at least a serious question" as to whether there is such a public policy, but asserting that the Court "need not reach this issue." PFR at 12-13, n.5. SPOG's concession is unsurprising, given the extensive analysis conducted by the superior court and Division I, and the number and nature of authorities supplying the basis for the public policy. Far from a "free-wheeling" public policy concern (PFR at 11), the public policy against the use of excessive force in policing is explicit, dominant, and well-defined.

Second, the reviewing courts' determination that the arbitral award was so lenient that it violated the public policy at issue is also consistent with this Court's precedent. Though SPOG contends that Division I "challenges" this Court's decision in *Operating Eng'rs* (PFR at 13), this is simply untrue. In fact, Division I found the case "instructive," noting that in *Operating Eng'rs*, the terminated employee was unaware of the hateful history of the noose, he had intended it as a prank on a white co-worker, his actions were "more clueless than racist," and the African-American

court in *City of Brooklyn Ctr. v. Law Enforcement Labor Servs., Inc.*, 635 N.W.2d 236, 242 (Minn. Ct. App. 2001), a case cited by this Court in *Kitsap County.* 167 Wn.2d at 437.

employee who reported it did not find it harassing or criminal. Op. at 32-33, citing *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 719, 723-24. Under those circumstances, this Court could not say that the 20-day suspension imposed by the arbitrator was so lenient that it violated the public policy against racial harassment. Op. at 33, citing *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 724. However, Division I determined that the circumstances in <u>this</u> case were quite different, and applied the same analysis with a different result. *See infra* § B(3). This conclusion does not contravene this Court's existing authorities, but rather applies their analyses to a different set of circumstances. RAP 13.4(b)(1) therefore does not support review.

3. Division I's ruling does not overstep the role of the reviewing court.

SPOG complains that the reviewing courts did not give proper deference to the arbitrator and overstepped their authority by substituting their judgment on the appropriate penalty. As Division I explained, however, SPOG misunderstands the role of the courts in reviewing an arbitral award. The superior court and Division I acted within their authority in determining that the award here violated public policy.

The reviewing courts recognized that "the punishment required to change a specific individual's behavior is left to the arbitrator . . .". *Operating Eng'rs*, 176 Wn.2d at 723; CP 1081, Op. at 39. However, this is

not the end of the inquiry. "[W]hen an arbitrator's punishment is so lenient that it will not deter <u>future discrimination</u>—including discrimination <u>committed by others</u>—it must be vacated." 176 Wn.2d at 723 (emphasis added). The same analysis applies to the public policy here: when the punishment is so lenient that it will not deter future uses of excessive force, it must be vacated. This determination must be made by the court, not the arbitrator. *W.R. Grace & Co. v. Local Union 759*, 461 U.S. 757, 766, 103 S. Ct. 2177, 76 L.Ed.2d 298 (1983) ("[T]he question of public policy is ultimately one for resolution by the courts."); *Alexander v. Gardner-Denver Co.*, 415 U.S. 36, 57, 94 S. Ct. 1011, 39 L. Ed. 2d 147 (1974) (arbitrator's expertise is the "law of the shop," while courts must determine the "law of the land"). The reviewing court does not improperly substitute its judgment for that of the arbitrator when, accepting all of the arbitrator's factual findings as true, it determines that the award violates public policy.

SPOG complains that there are no "guideposts" for a reviewing court to determine whether an award is so lenient that it violates the public policy against the use of excessive force in policing. Such a determination must necessarily be highly factually dependent, but that does not mean it cannot be done. Indeed, this Court in *Operating Eng'rs* cited some of the types of factors that a reviewing court should consider, including the intent and knowledge of the employee regarding the misconduct, and the effect of the misconduct on others. 176 Wn.2d at 719, 723-24.

The superior court and Division I considered similar factors, in light of the public policy at issue, in determining that the award here was so lenient as to not deter future misconduct. Both tribunals accepted the arbitrator's finding that Officer Shepherd's "patience was being tried." CP 1082, Op. at 35. However, this fact weighed in <u>favor</u> of a public policy violation, as to do otherwise had the effect of condoning "the use of force when dealing with difficult subjects when it is universally understood that a significant part of the job of the patrol officer is dealing with difficult subjects and doing so with patience." *Id*.

That Officer Shepherd was in pain and perhaps reflexively reacted to the kick was another factor that weighed in favor of a public policy violation. Op. at 33-35, CP 1083. Given that the arbitrator also found that Ms. Durden-Bosley was not much of a flight risk and that Officer Shepherd had other avenues available to him besides using force (CP 34-35), the conclusion that the reflexive punch was a mitigating factor "is tantamount to excusing officers who act before they think." Op. at 35.

The reviewing courts also accepted the arbitrator's factual findings that Officer Shepherd had been trained on SPD's use of force policy, that he violated that policy, and that nevertheless he (and some co-workers) believed he had done nothing wrong. Op. at 35-38, CP 1077, 1081. Again, the arbitrator's conclusion that Officer Shepherd's mistaken belief is a <u>mitigating</u> factor runs contrary to the public policy against the use of excessive force in policing. *See, e.g., Graham v. Connor,* 490 U.S. 386, 397, 109 S. Ct. 1865, 104 L. Ed. 2d 443 (1989) (officer's good intentions will not "make an objectively unreasonable use of force constitutional.").

This analysis is well within the purview of a reviewing court and follows the analysis conducted by and contemplated in *Operating Eng'rs*. The reviewing courts did not substitute their judgment for that of the arbitrator. Instead, taking all of the arbitrator's factual findings as true, the reviewing courts determined that reinstatement of Officer Shepherd, <u>under the specific circumstances of this case</u>, violated the public policy against the use of excessive force in policing. Review is therefore unwarranted.

C. Remand Was Unnecessary.

SPOG asserts that the reviewing courts further erred because they "fashion[ed] their own remedy," rather than remanding to the arbitrator for further proceedings, as required by *Operating Eng'rs*. PFR at 15-16. SPOG misapprehends both *Operating Eng'rs* and the reviewing courts' orders.

In *Operating Eng'rs*, the superior court, after finding that the award violated public policy, issued its own remedy, which included a suspension, a letter of apology, training, and a probationary period. 176 Wn.2d at 725. This Court reversed, relying on federal precedent:

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